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		:
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							:
PPL Electric Utilities Corporation			:



INITIAL DECISION


Before
Elizabeth H. Barnes
Administrative Law Judge


HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING


	Ronald P. Harper, Jr. (Complainant or Mr. Harper) filed a formal complaint against PPL Electric Utilities Corporation (Respondent or PPL) on May 12, 2014.[footnoteRef:1]   [1:  	This is an appeal of the Bureau of Consumer Services (BCS) Decision at Case No. 3160079 dated October 30, 2013.  Although Mr. Harper attempted to appeal the BCS Decision electronically via e-filing on November 11, 2013, the appeal was initially rejected by the Secretary’s Bureau for failure to provide an original signature.  Mr. Harper was informed by the Commission’s Secretary via a letter dated April 17, 2014, that the Commission is unable to accept an original appeal via e-filing; therefore, Complainant’s signature on the formal complaint form (Notification of Intent to Appeal) was required.  Mr. Harper was notified that his appeal would be considered timely if the Commission received a signed formal complaint by May 15, 2014.  The letter explained that formal complaints that are not appeals of informal BCS decisions may be initiated through e-filing; however, the formal appeal of an informal BCS decision must contain an original handwritten signature pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 1.35(a).  Mr. Harper submitted an original handwritten signature on the signature page attached to his original appeal of the BCS decision (Complaint) on May 12, 2014.  
] 


Complainant seeks relief in the form of a payment arrangement.  Complainant further seeks civil penalties against PPL for violating Commission regulations by: 1) erroneously terminating his electric service on September 13, 2013 and April 21, 2014, respectively; and 2) refusing to comply with Complainant’s request that he not be telephoned because he has Posttraumatic Stress Disorder[footnoteRef:2] (PTSD), but rather communicated to through writing in accordance with the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA).  Complainant requests the Commission direct an investigation into PPL’s compliance with the ADA, and direct PPL train its staff to comply with the ADA.   [2:  	Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is an anxiety disorder resulting after exposure to a traumatic event. ] 


On May 21, 2014, the Complaint was served upon PPL.  On May 22, 2014, Kimberly Krupka, Esquire entered her appearance for PPL.  

On June 9, 2014, PPL served its Answer admitting it terminated Complainant’s service on April 21, 2014 for non-payment of $7,920.56 due and owing on Mr. Harper’s account.  Service was restored on April 23, 2014.  PPL denies the termination was erroneous or that it violated any regulations or the ADA in its communications with Complainant.  PPL denies Complainant is entitled to a further payment arrangement.

On June 17, 2014, a Hearing Notice was issued assigning this case to me and scheduling an in-person evidentiary hearing on July 31, 2014.  On June 20, 2014, I issued a Prehearing Order.  On July 23, 2014, the hearing was rescheduled to August 26, 2014.  On August 20, 2014, Graig M. Schultz, Esquire, entered his appearance for PPL.  On or about August 22, 2014, I received an e-mail request from Graig M. Shultz, Esquire, counsel for PPL, requesting that he and his witness appear by telephone at the hearing scheduled for August 26, 2014.  In response to this e-mail, I e-mailed Mr. Harper and Mr. Shultz advising the parties that due to Mr. Shultz’ request, I would like to convert the hearing to a telephonic hearing.  Mr. Harper objected to a telephonic hearing and moved for a continuance stating that he was seeking counsel to represent him.  The motion for continuance was unopposed and the hearing was rescheduled by notice dated August 26, 2014, for October 27, 2014 as an in-person hearing.  

On October 17, 2014, PPL pre-served PPL Hearing Exhibits Nos. 1 through 4B upon Complainant and the presiding officer through regular mail.  The hearing was held on October 27, 2014.  The record was held open until the transcript was filed, giving Complainant additional time to file a post-hearing exhibit regarding his income for 2014, his brother-in-law’s drivers license, and/or medical documentation, if he desired.  N.T. 202 – 203.  Complainant did not file any post-hearing exhibits.  A 203 page transcript was filed on November 18, 2014.  The record closed on November 18, 2014.  This case is ripe for a decision.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Complainant in this case is Ronald P. Harper, Jr.  N.T. 5.

2. Respondent in this case is PPL Electric Utilities Corporation, an electric distribution company operating in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

3. Complainant currently resides alone at the service property, 1 Harper Lane, Stevens, Pennsylvania.  N.T. 5.

4. Complainant is 50 years old and claims he has been diagnosed with and suffers from Posttraumatic Stress Disorder for six years since he was 44 years old.  N.T. 88-91, 132-133.

5. On or about July 10, 2013, Mr. Harper received a notice of termination letter from PPL.  N.T. 104-106.  PPL Exhibit 2. 

6. On July 15, 2013, PPL received a medical certification valid for 30 days regarding Mr. Harper’s brother-in-law, Christopher Blakesley, who was temporarily residing at the service property.  N.T. 52, 76, 106.  PPL Exhibit 2.

7. Mr. Harper entered PPL’s website on or about July 22, 2013 to update his account information to change his e-mail address.  N.T. 146.

8. Mr. Harper or someone using his credentials entered PPL’s website on July 24, 2013 and selected that there was no medical condition in the household and the system provided energy assistance information to him.  N.T. 147. 
9. On August 27, 2013, PPL sent Mr. Harper a service termination letter for nonpayment of an arrearage of $7,054.19, with a proposed shut-off date of on or after September 9, 2013.  N.T. 51-55. PPL Exhibit 2 at 4.

10. On September 12, 2013, PPL noted in its records that the previous medical certification received needed validation because it was not for the customer and not for a permanent resident of the service property; therefore, the order was made on September 12 to cut service.  N.T. 59, 75-76, 81, 148, 155-156. PPL Exhibit 2.

11. On September 15 or 16, 2013, Mr. Harper’s service was terminated; but a cut-in order was issued September 16, 2013 because Mr. Harper filed an informal complaint at the Bureau of Consumer Services (BCS) at Case No. 3149300 and a renewal of the 30-day medical certification was provided to PPL by Jeanette (registered nurse) after termination. N.T. 60-65, 80, 107.  PPL Exhibit 2.

12. When service was terminated on September 15 or 16, 2013, the last payment PPL had received from Complainant was on September 24, 2009 in the amount of $250, and prior to that was June 27, 2008 in the amount of $147.88.  PPL Exhibit 4B.

13. On September 16, 2013, service was restored to the service property and a $50 reconnection charge was added to Complainant’s account.  N.T. 156.

14. On September 20, 2013, BCS issued a Commission-ordered payment arrangement based upon the criteria that 4 adults and one minor child were residing at 1 Harper Lane, Stevens, Pennsylvania, and there was a combined monthly income of $6,303 per month, which is between 250% - 300% the federal poverty guidelines, placing the customer at a level three pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 1405(b)(3), and giving the customer 1 year to pay his arrearage of approximately $4,000.  

15. On September 23, 2013, Mr. Harper was referred to OnTrack via e-mail correspondence and notified to “be on the lookout for a gold envelope” in his regular mail which contained an OnTrack application.  N.T. 157.

16. On September 27, 2013, Nellie Solivan-Ruth, an employee of PPL, added Mr. Harper’s phone number to his account.  N.T. 158.

17. In late September, 2013, Mr. Harper sent a facsimile to PPL indicating he wished to communicate through e-mail and not via telephone.  N.T. 65-66.  PPL Exhibit 2.

18. On October 4, 2013, Nellie Solivan-Ruth, a Customer Service Representative, e-mailed Mr. Harper stating: “We can appreciate your situation.  However, you still need to call our office since there is quite a bit of information we need to review with you.  Again, we have a credit specialist that needs to speak with you since as I mentioned before, with your current situation, I cannot help you the way our credit specialist can.  We do want to help you.  I can even have our Rep call you to avoid having you go through the automated system.  We just need your phone number.  Sincerely, Nellie, Customer Service, PPL E.U.”  Complainant’s Exhibit 2.

19. On October 11, 2013, Complainant filed another informal complaint at  BCS Case No. 3160079, complaining that the company would not communicate to him through his preferred form of communication, e-mail or facsimile.  N.T. 108.

20. A BCS Decision was rendered on October 30, 2013, reinstating the payment arrangement that had been ordered on or about September 20, 2013. 

21. On October 31, 2013, Customer Service Representative Bonnie entered in PPL’s account records that Mr. Harper was to pay $779 per the PUC Commission-ordered payment agreement issued in September.  N.T. 159.  PPL Exhibit 1.

22. Mr. Harper was to pay the monthly budget billing amount plus $644 beginning in November, 2013.  N.T. 160.

23. Other than a $300 payment posted on October 25, 2013 and $435 posted on November 26, 2013, there were no more payments made on the account; therefore, Mr. Harper breached his Commission-ordered payment agreement.  N.T. 161.  PPL Exhibits 3, 4A and 4B.

24. Mr. Harper attempted to efile his appeal of the BCS Decision on November 11, 2013, but this attempt was rejected by the Commission’s Secretary who sent him a subsequent letter on April 17, 2014. 

25. PPL was not copied on the April 17, 2014, letter from the Commission’s Secretary to Mr. Harper regarding his attempt to file an appeal of a BCS decision.  N.T. 163.

26. On March 7, 2014, PPL sent Mr. Harper an e-mail to remind him to apply for a LIHEAP Crisis Program.  N.T. 158.

27. On April 3, 2014, PPL sent a standard residential 10-day termination notice with a proposed termination date of on or after April 15, 2014, for non-payment of $7,920.56, a delinquent account balance.  N.T. 159, 161-162.

28. On or about April 8, 2014, Mr. Harper e-mailed Mr. Worthington expressing his belief that he had filed a formal complaint.  N.T. 164, 181.

29. Mr. Worthington checked PPL’s records and contacted one of the BCS investigators and found nothing to substantiate Mr. Harper’s claim that he had filed a formal complaint and responded same to Mr. Harper through e-mail.  N.T. 164, 181-183.

30. On April 12, 2014, PPL posted a 72-hour notice of termination at the service property.  N.T. 162.
31. As of April 21, 2014, PPL had not received formal notice that a formal complaint had been filed at the Commission appealing the BCS decision.  N.T. 162. 

32. On April 21, 2014, a PPL technician went to the service property to terminate Mr. Harper’s service for lack of payment.  N.T. 27, PPL Exhibit 2.

33. Mr. Harper argued with the technician that his service should not be terminated because Mr. Harper had a letter from the Commission dated April 17, 2014, which he showed the technician.

34. The letter from the Commission’s Secretary dated April 17, 2014, informed Mr. Harper that on November 11, 2013, the Commission rejected Mr. Harper’s attempt to appeal a BCS determination through e-filing.  

35. The letter dated April 17, 2014 further instructed Mr. Harper that in order to appeal the BCS determination, he must sign and submit the attached signature page of the formal complaint form that he attempted to e-file.  The Commission would consider the appeal timely if the signature page provided an original signature and was filed by May 15, 2014. 

36. On April 21, 2014, the service technician at the service property contacted the metering supervisor, Sharon Brooks, who reported back to the technician that there was no formal notice of a pending complaint filed by Mr. Harper in PPL’s system.  N.T. 32-33.  PPL Exhibit 2.

37. On April 21, 2014, Mr. Harper’s service was terminated.  N.T. 162.

38. The technician cut the power on April 21, 2014, informing Mr. Harper that there was nothing on record that there was a complaint filed.  PPL Exhibit 2.

39. At the time PPL terminated service, it had knowledge that two BCS decisions had been rendered and the cases closed on September 20, 2013 and October 30, 2013 respectively.  N.T. 166. 

40. After termination on April 21, 2014, the Commission’s Secretary had a conversation with Tim Dahl, a supervisor at PPL, and as a result of the conversation, PPL  restored service because the Secretary had given Mr. Harper until May 15 to properly file his appeal; therefore, if no complaint was properly filed by May 15, then termination would proceed again. N.T. 34-35; 165-166. PPL Exhibit 2.

41. On April 22, 2014, a PPL service technician tried to restore service but was unable to unblock the meter due to too much load on it.  No one answered a knock on the door of the service property and there was no phone number on file to call the customer on April 22, 2014.  N.T. 167.

42. PPL’s service technician returned on April 23, 2014, and restored power, and a $30 reconnection fee was added to Mr. Harper’s account.  N.T. 168.  PPL Exhibit 1.

43. Mr. Harper reattempted filing an appeal of the BCS Decision on May 12, 2014, and his filing was accepted by the Commission’s Secretary.  Complaint.

44. PPL received formal service of the complaint on May 21, 2014, and the complaint contained a mobile phone number as well as Mr. Harper’s e-mail address in the contact information, although it states “use this to contact!” next to the e-mail address.  Complaint at 1.

45. In an attempt to negotiate a payment arrangement with Mr. Harper, on May 22, 2014, Mae F. Dorris, a customer service representative of PPL, left a voicemail message on Mr. Harper’s mobile phone requesting he telephone her to discuss Mr. Harper’s formal complaint.  N.T. 47-48.

46. On or about May 23, 2014, Mae F. Dorris mailed Mr. Harper a letter requesting he telephone her to negotiate a payment agreement.  Complainant’s Exhibit 1, N.T. 39.

47. Julie Krzywiec also left a message on Mr. Harper’s voicemail on June 9, 2014, in an attempt to negotiate a payment agreement with Mr. Harper.  N.T. 17-18, 114.  PPL Exhibit 2.

48. On June 9, 2014, Mae F. Dorris again left voice messages on Mr. Harper’s mobile phone in an attempt to negotiate a payment agreement.  N.T. 16-17, 48.  PPL Exhibit 2. 

49. These phone calls and messages happened after Mr. Harper had requested by facsimile on September 20, 2013, that he not be telephoned, but rather communicated to through e-mail and after he filed his formal complaint complaining that the company had violated the ADA by telephoning him instead of corresponding through written correspondence. PPL Exhibit 2.  

50. Dennis R. Worthington is a Senior Quality Assurance Specialist at PPL.  N.T. 11.

51. Mr. Harper is the only customer out of approximately 1.4 million customers Mr. Worthington is aware of who objects to communications through telephone.  N.T. 67.

52. On June 9, 2014, Mr. Harper’s mobile phone number was removed from his account per Dennis Worthington’s instructions because Mr. Harper did not want the company calling him for any reason.  PPL Exhibit 2. 

53. Mr. Worthington intervened as supervisor of quality assurance to direct Mae Dorris to remove Mr. Harper’s phone number, and Mr. Worthington instructed Ms. Dorris to read the entire complaint before phoning a customer who is requesting a payment agreement.  N.T. 20. 

54. PPL has a mechanism to receive communications from customers through e-mail, but the company does not negotiate payment agreements through e-mail.  N.T. 67.

55. PPL does not negotiate payment agreements through e-mail because service could be in jeopardy, and exchanging e-mails can take hours or days involving basic questions regarding a customer’s finances and household needs before a payment agreement can be offered.  N.T. 68.

56. Service could be terminated while there is an exchange of e-mails going on between the customer and PPL.  N.T. 68. 

57. PPL has taken corrective action to prevent customer service representatives from telephoning Mr. Harper in the future regarding his account.  N.T. 20.

58. PPL has a call center so the first way it conducts business with its customers is through the telephone.  N.T. 22.

59. Telephone, e-mail, and regular mail are three ways a customer can communicate with PPL.  N.T. 23.

60. A customer may communicate through interfacing with PPL’s website and through an Interactive Voice Response (IVR) system at any hour of the day.  N.T. 23, 84, 144.

61. Any time a customer telephones PPL’s office, he or she is presented with options including setting up a payment agreement for a delinquent account through IVR by answering a series of questions regarding household size and income.  N.T. 140.

62. If a customer had previously established a payment agreement, the IVR system would look to repair a broken agreement, ask for a catch-up amount, and the customer does not have to speak to a live person with IVR, but may interact using his phone’s keypad.  N.T. 141. 

63. PPL’s website offers options for a customer to make a payment agreement by answering questions regarding income and household size by entering data on a computer.  N.T. 142.

64. Mr. Harper complained there is no option with IVR or the website other than to pay a lump sum catch up amount even if he can’t pay it.  N.T. 142. 

65. Complainant felt harassed and overwhelmed by telephone calls from PPL customer service representatives and letters requesting he telephone PPL to negotiate a payment agreement.  N.T. 88, 134-135.

66. It is easier for Complainant to ignore e-mails, or to review them in time and respond, than it is for Complainant to answer ringing telephones, or knocks at doors which give him more anxiety.  N.T. 135-136.

67. Complainant does not dispute that he owes PPL $9,112 for services rendered.  N.T. 89-92, 102-103.

68. Complainant requests a payment arrangement whereby he pays his monthly budget bill of $57.69 plus $200 per month towards the arrearage until it is current.  N.T. 92.

69. Complainant has been self employed as a political consultant for 20 years.  N.T. 93.

70. Complainant has been out of business for the past six years and is trying to get back in it and do the things he used to be able to do.  N.T. 92-94.

71. Complainant built his house at 1 Harper Lane, supported a family of seven and was more able to manage his finances and pay his bills in a timely manner until approximately six years ago.  N.T. 91-94.

72. Complainant wants to pay the arrearage and does not want to apply for free money and assistance money because he does not believe in it. He wants to work and earn and pay the money back.  N.T. 91.

73. Complainant testified his current gross income for 2014 was approximately $6,000 for 10 months as of the date of the hearing in October, which averages  approximately $600 per month for 2014, although Complainant did not provide written documentation to support this claim of income. N.T. 94, 122-125.

74. The BCS Commission-ordered payment arrangement issued September 16, 2013 was based upon the criteria of a household income of $6,303 per month for 4 adults and one minor child, or an annual household gross income of 75,636 for 5 persons.  N.T. 126, PPL Exhibit 4A and 4B.

75. The BCS Commission-ordered payment arrangement provided for repayment of the arrearage amount within 12 months (a level 3 customer requirement) instead of 60 months, which a level one customer would be entitled to.  PPL Exhibit 4A- 4B.

76. Complainant was never enrolled in the OnTrack program and his arrearage does not consist of any Customer Assistance Program (CAP) arrearage.  PPL Exhibit 4B.

77. Complainant’s five children are all over the age of 18 and do not reside with Complainant.  N.T. 91-95.

78. Complainant resides at the service property alone with his dog.  N.T. 95.

79. Complainant attempted to use PPL’s website to communicate and had difficulty with it.  N.T. 97.
80. Complainant did not attempt to use the Interactive Voice Response (IVR) system to negotiate a payment arrangement because it involved using the telephone.  N.T. 119, 140.

81. Complainant never initiated a telephone call to PPL to negotiate a payment arrangement.  PPL Exhibit 4A and 4B.

82. Complainant sent a facsimile to PPL and the Commission in September, 2013, complaining about his power being shut off and that despite his repeated demands to be contacted through writing, PPL demands he telephone them requesting PPL answer his facsimile through e-mail instead of calling him.  Complainant requested assistance from the Commission through e-mail.  N.T. 98.  Complainant’s Exhibit 4.  

83. In response to the facsimile in September, 2013, Thomas Brandon, an employee in the Commission’s Bureau of Consumer Services, telephoned Complainant, which annoyed Complainant.  N.T. 98-99.  Complainant’s Exhibit 4.

84. Although Mr. Harper was referred to PPL’s OnTrack assistance program, he never completed the application process because it would have involved calling a toll free phone number.  N.T. 99, 108-113.  Complainant Exhibit 4.

85. Mr. Harper has made two payments to PPL since the September 20, 2013 Commission-ordered payment arrangement, one on October 25, 2013 in the amount of $300 and one on November 26, 2013, in the amount of $435.  N.T. 101.  PPL Exhibit 1.

86. There is no evidence to suggest that Mr. Harper ever received LIHEAP assistance in paying his arrearage.  PPL Exhibit 1.

87.   Complainant’s roommate, brother-in-law, sister, and a minor child were living with Complainant in April – September 2013 on a temporary basis.  N.T. 120.

88. In September 2013, there were four adults and one minor child residing at the service residence and one of the adults had a medical condition.  N.T. 62, 120.  

89. Complainant’s roommate, Ken, had been paying Complainant rental income in 2013; however, he moved out of the service property on February 20, 2014, and discontinued his rental payments.  N.T. 126, 137.

90. Complainant’s brother-in-law, sister and the minor child moved out of his house on or about Sunday, April 13, 2014, the day after Complainant’s father passed away.  N.T. 138.
 
91. On or about October 3, 2014, Mr. Harper received written notice from PPL that his present budget amount was higher than needed to cover his then current electric use; therefore, PPL decreased Mr. Harper’s budget amount to $10 per month.  The letter further provided a toll free number Mr. Harper could call if he had any questions about budget billing.  The letter head provided a fax number.  N.T. 168-169.  Complainant’s Exhibit No. 3. 

92. Complainant was enrolled in PPL’s Budget Billing Plan during the time period in question; however, on or about October 3, 2014, Complainant has a deferred credit of $427.04.  N.T. 168-169. 

93. Mr. Harper still has an overdue balance even though he has a credit on his budget.  N.T. 169.




DISCUSSION

As the proponent of a rule or order, Complainant in this proceeding bears the burden of proof pursuant to Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).  “Burden of proof” means a duty to establish one’s case by a preponderance of the evidence, which requires that the evidence be more convincing by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other side.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  To satisfy the burden of proof against a utility, a complainant must show that the utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint, Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Company, 50 Pa. PUC 300 (1976), or that the utility has violated either its duty under the Public Utility Code or the orders or regulations of the Commission.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.

To establish a sufficient case and satisfy the burden of proof, a complainant must show that Respondent public utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint.  Patterson v. Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990); Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Company, 50 Pa. PUC 300 (1976).  Such a showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 134 Pa. Cmwlth. 218, 221-222, 578 A.2d 600, 602 (1990); alloc. den., 602 A.2d 863 (1992).  Additionally, any finding of fact necessary to support the Commission’s adjudication must be based upon substantial evidence.  Mill v. Commonwealth, Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 67 Pa. Cmwlth. 597, 447 A.2d 1100 (1982); Edan Transportation Corp. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 154 Pa. Cmwlth. 21, 623 A.2d 6 (1993); 2 Pa.C.S. § 704.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk and Western Ry. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980); Erie Resistor Corp. v. Unemployment Compensation Bd. of Review, 194 Pa. Super. 278, 166 A.2d 96 (1960); Murphy v. Commonwealth, Dept. of Public Welfare, White Haven Center, 85 Pa. Cmwlth. 23, 480 A.2d 382 (1984).

		Under these principles, Complainant, as the party seeking relief, has the burden of proof.  In the instant case, Complainant has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Respondent is responsible or accountable for the problems described in his complaint, i.e. that the 10-day termination notices were in error, the terminations on September 15 or 16, 2013 and April 21, 2014 were in error, and that he is entitled to another Commission-ordered payment arrangement for the outstanding balance.  See, Feinstein, supra.

American With Disabilities Act

Complainant contends PPL violated the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA) when its customer services representatives repeatedly telephoned him and left voicemail messages in addition to mailing him letters requesting he telephone them to negotiate payment arrangements after Complainant filed informal and formal complaints at the Commission. Mr. Harper claims that the dozens of phone calls which he received from PPL were a form of criminal harassment.  N.T. 199.  Complainant contends the customer service representatives who contacted him knew or should have known that he had explained his condition and requested he be contacted only through written communication i.e. by electronic mail or facsimile.  Complainant contends PPL could have negotiated a company payment arrangement with him by electronic mail or via facsimile prior to the termination of his electric service.

Complainant wants PPL to have a system in place for persons similar to him suffering from PTSD, the elderly, the hard of hearing, or other people who do not want others helping them, but would rather be independently able to read an offer and make their own decisions.  N.T. 197-198.  Complainant contends Mr. Worthington had Mr. Harper’s e-mail address in early April, 2014, but still the customer service representatives continued to phone him in May and June, 2014, leaving him voicemail messages instead of communicating through e-mail.

PPL contends it has many ways Complainant could have communicated with PPL to negotiate a payment arrangement including: through its IVR or through its website.  Mr. Harper could have applied for OnTrack assistance by filling out the application and providing income information with his application.  He could have designated an adult residing at the service property to telephone PPL and negotiate a payment arrangement on his behalf.  An adult designee could have also telephoned for LIHEAP assistance and OnTrack assistance on Complainant’s behalf.   PPL contends Mr. Harper was capable and willing to use the web-based interface mechanism; however, he was dissatisfied with the amount PPL’s website computed and told him to pay, and Mr. Harper elected not to call a customer service representative to discuss alternative payment arrangements. 

PPL argues that although its customer service representatives, Mae F. Dorris and Julie Krzywiec, did attempt to contact Mr. Harper via telephone after the formal complaint was filed, none of the phone calls were in a threatening tone, none demanded immediate payment, and none threatened termination of service.  Therefore, none of the calls constituted harassment.  Rather, they were an attempt to negotiate a company payment arrangement with an existing customer.  Further, Mr. Worthington stepped in to assure quality service and took action to correctively train certain customer service representatives and to remove Mr. Harper’s mobile phone number from his account to ensure that Mr. Harper is not telephoned by representatives in the future.  Also, PPL did communicate with Complainant through e-mail and regular mail as was requested.  PPL contends none of the language in Complainant’s Exhibits 1-3 was threatening, offensive, harassing, or improper.  Therefore, none of these statements constituted “unreasonable service” within the meaning of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S.§ 1501. 
 
Disposition

		It is well settled that the Commission may not exceed its jurisdiction and must act within it.  City of Pittsburgh v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n., 43 A.2d 348 (Pa. Super 1945) (Pittsburgh).  Jurisdiction may not be conferred by the parties where none exists.  Roberts v. Martorano, 235 A.2d 602 (Pa. 1967) (Roberts).  Subject matter jurisdiction is a prerequisite to the exercise of the power to decide a controversy.  Hughes v. Pa. State Police, 619 A.2d 390 (Pa. Cmwlth 1992) (Hughes).  As a creation of the legislature, the Commission possesses only the authority that the state legislature has specifically granted to it in the Public Utility Code.  66 Pa.C.S. §§ 101, et seq.  Its jurisdiction must arise from the express language of the pertinent enabling legislation or by strong and necessary implication therefrom.  Feingold v. Bell, 383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977) (Feingold).  The Commission does not have jurisdiction to enforce the ADA or to even determine whether Mr. Harper has a disability or impairment which substantially limits his major life activities as defined by the Act at 42 U.S. Code § 12102, et. seq.  

		The Commission is not a federal court, which is designed to make such determinations regarding violations of the Americans With Disabilities Act.[footnoteRef:3]  See also, Mid-Atlantic Power Supply Assoc. v. PECO Energy Co., Docket No. P-00981615, 1999 Pa PUC LEXIS 30 (entered May 19, 1999) (MAPSA) (wherein the Commission did not have jurisdiction to find a violation of the federal Unfair Trade Practices Act).  Accordingly, I find in favor of Respondent on this issue. [3:  	The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) prohibits discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, State and local government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation. It also mandates the establishment of TDD/telephone relay services. The current text of the ADA includes changes made by the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (P.L. 110-325), which became effective on January 1, 2009. The ADA is published in the United States Code.  The Federal Communications Commission is the federal agency regulating telephone relay services.
] 


Reasonableness of Service

		However, the facts as averred raise an issue regarding whether after Mr. Harper requested communications in writing, if the customer service representatives’ phone call messages and mailings requesting Mr. Harper telephone PPL back to negotiate a payment arrangement constitute unreasonable service under the Pennsylvania Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S.§ 1501.  An electric utility’s “service” within this section is not limited to the distribution of electrical energy, but also includes any and all acts that relate to that function.  West Penn Power Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 75, (Pa.Cmwlth. 1990).  By “unreasonable service” the standard does not require perfect service to the individual subjective expectations of each and every customer.  Rather, an objective “reasonable person” standard is inferred.  

		Complainant claims he suffers from and was medically diagnosed with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD); however, there was no corroborative medical documentation presented to substantiate Complainant’s testimony that he had been medically diagnosed with PTSD.  However, reviewing the record as a whole, I find Complainant’s testimony credible that he has PTSD.  It is unclear to what extent this condition interferes with Complainant’s ability to carry on conversations via telephone.  Complainant was articulate and showed no hesitation or shyness in conversing face-to-face at the in-person hearing.  However, I am persuaded by the evidence in the form of Complainant’s testimony, actions, exhibits and refusal to use the telephone, to find he did attempt to avoid communications by telephone, and expressed a preference to PPL staff and Commission staff that he be contacted in person or in writing.  There is insufficient evidence to find Complainant was incapable of communicating via telephone, but there is sufficient evidence to find he had anxiety about such communications, especially when he was facing a possible termination of electric service for inability to pay. 

		The key issue is whether the telephonic communications by Mae Dorris and Julie Krzywiec to Complainant would have been offensive to a reasonable person, sufficient to constitute a violation of Section 1501. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Best Limousine Company, Inc., t/a Dave’s Limousine Service, A‑00105095C9902, (Opinion and Order adopted July 13, 2000).  The instant case may be distinguished from the Best Limousine case wherein a racial slur was uttered by a driver of a limousine in the presence of a customer, and the Commission found the act was done during the ordinary course of business for his employer, Best Limousine Company, Inc., and a reasonable listener would have been offended by the remark.  Thus, the Commission found a violation of Section 1501 occurred, and it imposed a $250 civil penalty upon the employer.  Unlike the Best Limousine case, in the instant case, there is no racial slur averred in the Complaint.  Rather, Complainant argues the dozens of phone calls he received including automated calls in the midst of an impending service termination and the termination itself in April, 2014 was traumatic.  N.T. 115-117.

		Generally, the credibility of a witness is a question of fact to be determined by the presiding officer.  In Danovitz v. Pornoy, 161 A.2d 146 (Pa. 1960), the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania recognized the purview of a presiding judge as follows:

	In determining the weight to be attached to the testimony of a witness it is proper to consider his appearance, general bearing, conduct on the stand, demeanor, manner of testifying, such as candor or frankness, or the clearness of his statement, and even the intonation of his voice.  So the positiveness of the witness, as well as his uncertainty as to the facts as to which the testimony is given may be considered.

161 A.2d 149.
	
		Mr. Harper appeared at the hearing to be neatly dressed, alert, intelligent, and candid, with no physical disabilities regarding his eyesight, hearing, or his ability to walk or speak.  Although he was a pro se litigant, he appeared confident in his ability to represent himself. He asked many questions of Mr. Worthington on cross examination, and he brought exhibits with him.  He also brought with him his mobile telephone, which he used to play a voicemail message of Mae Dorris during the hearing.

		I find Mr. Harper’s testimony to be credible that he has heightened anxiety in communicating via telephone and that a knock on his door can be traumatizing to him.  N.T. 115-117.  It is not clear to me whether Mr. Harper always has difficulty communicating via telephone, or just during the time period his electric service was in jeopardy.  The evidence shows Mr. Harper prefers communicating with employees of PPL and employees of the Commission regarding this case either in-person or through written communication, i.e. electronic mail or facsimile.  However, the evidence does not suggest that Mr. Harper is hearing impaired or entirely incapable of using a telephone to communicate with others, as Mr. Harper played a voicemail message on his mobile phone of Mae Dorris’ message at the hearing, which the court reporter transcribed.  I find Mr. Harper’s testimony that he is technically savvy as he was educated at a technical institute, worked for a computer consulting company, and has operated a web-based media company for the past 20 years to be credible. N.T. 97.  I infer such an occupation would probably involve using the telephone on occasion to communicate.

		Complainant has demonstrated an unwillingness to use the phone and claims he was offended by the voicemails of the customer service representatives, which occurred after his formal appeal of the BCS decision was filed on May 12, 2014 and served upon PPL.  I also find credible Mr. Harper’s testimony that when BCS representative Thomas Brandon telephoned Mr. Harper, this saddened him. N.T. 98-99.  Complainant’s Exhibit 4.  I do not find there is sufficient evidence to show that any of these phone calls or communications to Complainant to be considered sufficiently offensive to a reasonable person such as to constitute a violation of Section 1501.  There is no evidence to suggest the language was offensive, disrespectful or threatening.  There may have been a mistake or misunderstanding about Mr. Harper’s aversion to telephonic communications, but this does not constitute unreasonable service.  It is apparent from the complaint form that Mr. Harper completed, that he included his mobile phone number.  Complaint.  Although, he indicates next to his e-mail address “Use this to contact!” the phone number is also on the complaint.  I don’t believe there was any malice intended by the customer service representatives who later attempted to contact Mr. Harper using this phone number.  

		I am persuaded by Mr. Worthington’s testimony that payment arrangements are better negotiated through the web, IVR, or via telephone because service may be in jeopardy and these are more expeditious ways of creating a payment arrangement and avoiding termination than the exchange of facsimiles or electronic mailings, which could take hours or days with the customer.  

		Further, it was communicated to Mr. Harper that he had options other than speaking directly to a customer service representative about his account.  He could have had an adult designee use the phone for him and speak to a customer service representative.  He could have used the PPL website or IVR system.  

		Finally, I find Mr. Worthington’s testimony to be credible that he has taken steps at PPL to ensure Mr. Harper is not disturbed by phone calls from PPL’s customer service representatives by having Mr. Harper’s phone number removed from his account information, and by instructing representatives to more thoroughly read complaints and account notations from prior service representatives.  This shows a willingness on the part of the company to accommodate Mr. Harper in the future and to train its employees to be more sensitive and understanding of those with PTSD and their ability to communicate.  Accordingly, I find PPL’s service was reasonable, and I find no violation of 66 Pa.C.S.§ 1501.


Service Termination on September 15 or 16, 2013 

Complainant asserts that the September 15 or 16, 2013 termination was erroneous because a valid medical certification was in effect at the time of termination and it was incumbent upon PPL to investigate whether Christopher Blakely was still residing at 1 Harper Lane when the 10-day Notice was issued, the 72-hour notice was posted, and the service was terminated on or about September 15 or 16, 2013.  Mr. Harper argues PPL could have telephoned Mr. Blakely to ask if he was still a resident at the service property, or could have telephoned the doctor or nurse practitioner (Jeanette) for a renewal of the medical certification, but chose not to and this constitutes unreasonable service and an erroneous termination. 

Mr. Harper argues the medical certification given to PPL on July 15, 2013 was valid and in full force and effect for 90 days and that the company disregarded it in terminating service on September 15, 2013.  Complainant argues PPL has an obligation to protect the person who has the medical certification and the company did not take enough steps to ensure the person who was named on the certificate was not actually residing at 1 Harper Lane.  According to Mr. Harper, his brother-in-law was living with him in September, 2013, because the brother-in-law’s house was condemned in Lancaster at the time and if PPL would have called his brother-in-law, this would have been relayed to PPL.  N.T. 196.  

PPL claims it acted reasonably and pursuant to Commission regulations when it terminated service in September, having not seen a renewal or further verification of medical certification, and believing the individual for whom the original medical certification was for was a temporary resident at the service property.  As soon as it received additional information including an informal complaint at the PUC on or about September 13 – 16, 2013, PPL restored service.  N.T. 191-192.

Disposition
Section 1406 of the Public Utility Code provides in pertinent part:
(a) Authorized termination. – A public utility may notify a customer and terminate service provided to a customer after notice as provided in subsection (b) for any of the following actions by the customer:

(1) Nonpayment of any undisputed delinquent account.
(2) Failure to comply with the material terms of a payment agreement.
*  *  * 

(b) Notice of termination of service. –
(1) Prior to terminating service under subsection (a), a public utility:
(i) shall provide written notice of the termination to the customer at least ten days prior to the date of the proposed termination.  The termination notice shall remain effective for 60 days.
(ii) shall attempt to contact the customer or occupant, either in person or by telephone, to provide notice of the proposed termination at least three days prior to the scheduled termination.  Phone contact shall be deemed complete upon attempted calls on two separate days, to the residence between the hours of 7 a.m. and 9 p.m. if the calls were made at various times each day.

*  *  *

(f) Medical certification. – A public utility shall not terminate service to premises when a licensed physician or nurse practitioner has certified that the customer or a member of the customer’s household is seriously ill or afflicted with a medical condition that will be aggravated by cessation of service.  The customer shall obtain a letter from a licensed physician verifying the condition and shall promptly forward it to the public utility.  The medical certification procedure shall be implemented in accordance with commission regulations.

66 Pa.C.S.§ 1406(a)(b) and (f).

		The Commission’s Regulation at Section 56.114 (regarding length of postponement; renewals of medical certification) provides in pertinent part.

Service may not be terminated for the time period specified in a medical certification; the maximum length of the certification shall be 30 days.

(1) Time period not specified. If no length of time is specified or if the time period as not readily ascertainable, service may not be terminated for at least 30 days.
(2) Renewals.  Certifications may be renewed in the same manner and for the same time period as provided in §§ 56.112 and 56.113 . . .and this section if the customer has met the obligation under § 56.116 (relating to duty of customer to pay bills).  

52 Pa.Code § 56.114.

Section 1407 of the Public Utility Code (regarding Reconnection of Service) provides in pertinent part:
(b) Timing. – When service to a dwelling has been terminated and provided the applicant has met all applicable conditions, the public utility shall reconnect service as follows:

(1) Within 24 hours for erroneous terminations or upon receipt by the public utility of a valid medical certification.
*  *  *
(4) Within 3 days from April 1 to November 30 for proper terminations. 

66 Pa.C.S.§ 1407(b)(1) and (4).

		A personal opinion, no matter how strongly held, does not constitute evidence.  Pennsylvania Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, 532 A.2d 12 (Pa. 1987).  Complainant’s position that he had a valid medical certification in September when PPL issued the 10-day Notice and ultimately terminated service is without merit.  There is no record support for his position.  The July 10, 2013 medical certification PPL received for Christopher Blakely, Complainant’s brother-in-law who was temporarily residing at 1 Harper Lane, Stevens, Pennsylvania, was valid for 30 days, but under the regulations it was incumbent upon the Complainant or Mr. Blakely to recertify through a nurse practitioner or physician after the 30 day period expired and before the termination occurred on September 15 or 16, 2013.  52 Pa.Code § 56.114.  PPL acted in compliance with 52 Pa.Code § 56.117 when the initial certification expired  in mid-August, and the company issued a termination notice letter on August 27, 2013, for nonpayment of an arrearage of $7,054.19, with a proposed shut-off date of on or after September 9, 2013.  N.T. 51-55. PPL Exhibit 2 at 4.

		Further, the evidence supports a finding that once PPL received a second medical certification from nurse practitioner Jeanette on September 16, and once an informal complaint had been initiated by Complainant’s facsimile sent to the Bureau of Consumer Services and PPL on or about September 16, 2013, PPL reconnected service within 24 hours in compliance with the Public Utility Code and a $50 reconnection charge was added to Complainant’s account.  66 Pa.C.S.§ 1407(b)(1).  N.T. 156.  Therefore, I find in favor of PPL on this issue.

Service Termination on April 21, 2014

Additionally, Complainant argues the 10-day notice and later termination on April 21, 2014 was premature as he had appealed the BCS decision in November, 2013 and a complaint dispute was pending at the time his service was terminated on April 21, 2014.  Complainant asserts that as long as an appeal is pending, then PPL is prohibited from terminating his service for any reason.  Mr. Harper contends that whether he gave a digital signature through e-filing or whether he actually signed a complaint should have no bearing on the timeliness of an appeal.  N.T. 199.

PPL contends at the time it terminated service in April, 2014, there was nothing in the record to show Complainant had successfully filed an appeal of the BCS decision or a separate formal complaint at the Commission.  PPL contends the issue of whether or not the Commission properly rejected Complainant’s attempt to file an appeal of the BCS decision is irrelevant to whether there was an erroneous termination.  That is an issue between Complainant and the PUC.  The April 17, 2014 letter from the Secretary to Complainant indicates the process for filing a BCS appeal and informs the Complainant that his appeal will be considered timely only if the attached signature form page is signed, dated and returned to the Secretary’s Bureau by May 15, 2014.  Additionally, the Commission’s complaint forms indicate that appeals of BCS decisions must be in writing and mailed to the Secretary’s Bureau. 

	Further, PPL argues it has the right to terminate if the current undisputed bills are not being paid.  PPL describes its reconnection on April 23, 2014 as an act out of accommodation for the Commission.  

Disposition

Section 56.141 addresses the procedures for a notice of dispute, generally, and more specifically termination disputes and the utility must proceed according to this section.  Specifically, Section 56.141(2) states:

“Termination stayed.  Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, when a termination dispute or complaint has been properly filed in accordance with this subchapter, termination shall be prohibited until resolution of the dispute or complaint.  However, the disputing party shall pay undisputed portions of the bill. (Emphasis added).

52 Pa.Code § 56.141(2).  (Emphasis added).

PPL argues that although Complainant’s appeal of the BCS decision was deemed timely as if it had been filed on November 11, 2013, it was not in fact properly filed, served upon Respondent, and actively pending within the meaning of 52 Pa.Code § 56.141(2) until May 21, 2014, after PPL terminated service on April 21, 2014.  Because PPL was not served with formal notice of the complaint until May 21, 2014, it was unaware of a formal complaint pending at the time it terminated service on April 21, 2014.  PPL could not confirm Mr. Harper’s contentions to Mr. Worthington and the service technician that a formal complaint had been filed and a dispute was pending in April, 2014.  PPL contends it is irrelevant to a finding of a violation whether or not the Commission’s Secretary deemed the appeal of the BCS decision timely when Complainant filed his original signature to the appeal on May 12, 2014.  Therefore, the termination was not stayed at the time it occurred on April 21, 2014, despite Mr. Harper’s attempts to convey to Mr. Worthington on April 8, 2014 and the service technician on April 21, 2014, that a complaint dispute was pending as evidenced by a Secretarial Letter dated April 17, 2014.  The Secretarial Letter acknowledged Mr. Harper’s attempt to efile an appeal of the BCS decision, and granted Complainant until May 15, 2014 to file the original signature required by 52 Pa.Code § 1.35(a); however, PPL was not copied on the letter.

Generally, once the Commission issues its final order disposing of the underlying issues/claims raised in the complaint, the matter is no longer pending at the Commission and the termination stay pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 56.141(2) is automatically lifted.  The instant case raises an issue as to whether there was a pending filed complaint to stay a termination within the meaning of 52 Pa.Code §56.141(2) at the time termination occurred on April 21, 2014.  Although Complainant attempted to file a formal appeal of the BCS decision in November, 2013, this attempt was rejected by the Secretary of the Commission as evidenced by the Secretarial Letter dated April 17, 2014.

	52 Pa.Code § 1.35(a) (regarding Execution and Signature of pleadings filed at the Commission) provides in pertinent part:



(a) Signature.

(1) Paper filings.  A pleading, submittal or other document must be signed in ink by the party in interest, or by the party’s attorney, as required by subsection (b), and show the office and mailing address of the party or attorney.  An original hard copy must be signed, and other copies filed must conform thereto unless otherwise ordered by the Commission. 

(2) Electronic filings.  An electronic filing must include an electronic signature when it is filed on the Commission’s electronic filing system by a filing user or authorized agent by means of a user ID and password.  A filing must include:
(i) a notation on the first page that it has been electronically filed.
(ii) a signature block and the name, office and e-mail address of the filing user. 

52 Pa.Code § 1.35(a)(1) – (2)(i)(ii).

		The Commission’s regulation at 52 Pa.Code § 56.172 provides as follows:

(a) A request for review of the decision of the Bureau of Consumer Services (BCS) shall be initiated in writing within 20 days of issuance. 
(b) Upon receipt of a request for review of the decision of the BCS, the Secretary of the Commission will mail a formal complaint form to the requesting person.
(c) Within 30 days of the mailing of the formal complaint form, the party requesting review of the decision of the BCS shall file the completed complaint form with the Secretary.
(d) Upon the filing of a formal complaint, within the 30-day period and not thereafter except for good cause shown, there will be an automatic stay of the informal complaint decision.
(e) The failure to request review of the BCS decision by filing a formal complaint within the 30-day period does not foreclose a party from filing a formal complaint at a later time except as otherwise may be provided in 66 Pa.C.S. relating to Public Utility Code).

52 Pa.Code § 56.172.

		In the instant case, the Secretary rejected Complainant’s attempt to efile an appeal from a BCS decision on November 11, 2013, because the efiling contained a digital electronic signature as opposed to an original hand-written signature.  Additionally, Complainant did not follow the instructions on the formal complaint form, which stated an appeal of a BCS decision must be signed and filed by mail.  The Secretary’s letter dated April 17, 2014, stated in pertinent part:

As the PUC staff recently discussed with you telephonically, the Secretary’s Bureau is unable to accept an original appeal via efiling.  Under PUC regulation 52 Pa.Code Section 1.35(a) an original signature is required for the PUC to accept your appeal.  Therefore, if you wish to appeal the BCS determination you must sign and submit the attached signature page for that purpose.  The PUC will consider your appeal timely if it receives your signed enclosed form by May 15, 2014.

If you do not wish to appeal the informal BCS determination but instead wish to initiate litigation against PPL Electric Utilities on different issues, you may submit a Formal Complaint form to the PUC.  When filing a formal complaint that is not an appeal from a BCS decision, you can efile the formal complaint form.  However, our electronic system is not set up to accept a formal complaint when it is an appeal of a BCS decision.  We are sorry for any inconvenience or confusion.  Please note that proceeding in this manner, as opposed to continuing your appeal, will establish a new formal complaint proceeding against PPL Electric Utilities.

Secretarial Letter dated April 17, 2014.

	Section 1.38 provides:

The Commission may reject a filing if it does not comply with any applicable statute, regulation or order of the Commission.

52 Pa.Code § 1.38.

		Section 1.35(a)(2) provides that an electronic filing must include an electronic signature when it is filed on the Commission’s electronic filing system by a filing user or authorized agent by means of a user ID and password.  Additionally, the filing must include a notation of the first page that it has been electronically filed and a signature block and the name, office and e-mail address of the filing user.  

		The formal Complaint in this case has attached to it a letter from Mr. Harper to the Secretary dated May 12, 2014.  As part of the formal complaint form Mr. Harper received from the Commission, there is an instruction regarding filing appeals by mail only to Bureau of Consumer Services decisions.  See Complaint at 6.  It further states, “mail the completed form with your original signature and any attachments to the Secretary.  Formal complaints sent by fax or e-mail will not be accepted.”  Complaint at 6.

		This form is not a Commission order or regulations, but it shows the Commission’s procedure for filing of formal complaints electronically and the requirement that BCS appeals, which become formal complaints, must be filed with an original signature through certified mail, first class mail, or overnight delivery.  The Commission’s Secretary determines whether a filing should be accepted or rejected.  52 Pa.Code § 1.38.  It appears from the record that the Secretary rejected Complainant’s efiling on November 11, 2013, but notified him at least via letter dated April 17, 2014, that if he cured the defect in his filing by signing an attached verification form, and mailing it to the Commission by May 15, 2014, that his appeal of the October 30, 2013 BCS Decision would be deemed timely.

		It also appears from the record that if the original filing on November 11, 2013, had been docketed and served on the Company, the Company might not have proceeded with termination proceedings on April 21, 2014 pending the outcome of that complaint.  The fact that the Company had no knowledge of the attempted November 11, 2013 efiling of the appeal of the BCS decision or of the April 17, 2014 Secretarial Letter, is not the fault of the Company.  The Secretarial Letter dated April 17, 2014, was neither copied to nor served upon Respondent.  Rather, in April, 2014, the Company internally investigated the Complainant’s claim that he had a formal complaint pending and found nothing in its records to show a complaint was pending.  The behavior of the Company was reasonable under the circumstances and did not violate any statute or regulation of the Commission.  

		Hearsay evidence can be given its natural probative effect and may support a finding only if it is corroborated by any competent evidence in the record.  Walker v. Unemployment Compensation Bd. Of Rev., 367 A.2d 366 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1976).  Goldson v. Metropolitan Edison Co., C-2013-2387326, 2014 WL 3555462 (June 30, 2014).  Although Mr. Worthington’s testimony is hearsay regarding the conversation between the Commission’s Secretary and Mr. Diehl, the notations in PPL Exhibit 2 made in the ordinary course of business, corroborate this hearsay testimony and support a finding that a conversation took place between the Commission’s Secretary and a PPL employee regarding Mr. Harper’s attempt to file an appeal of the BCS Decision.  Thus, it appears from the record that possibly as an accommodation to the Commission, service was restored to Complainant on April 23, 2014 with some understanding that in the event Mr. Harper did not cure the defect in his original filing by providing an original signature on or before May 15, 2014, PPL could then resume termination procedures.  The record shows PPL did take steps to restore service within 24 hours of termination on April 21, but was unable because of excessive load on the meter, to unblock the meter until April 23rd.  Therefore, I find the termination on April 21, 2014 was not erroneous and the reconnection on April 23, 2014 was timely. 

Payment Arrangement

Complainant requests a second Commission-ordered payment arrangement regarding the outstanding balance of over $9,000.  Mr. Harper admits he did not have the money to continue with the monthly payments due and owing pursuant to the Commission-ordered payment arrangement of September 20, 2013.  Later, he could not make the catch-up $2,500 payment the website asked for.  He did not have the money.  N.T. 200.  Mr. Harper contends part of this problem lies with PPL who allowed him to get $9,500 in debt before terminating his service.  He requests a monthly budget billing amount of $10 plus $200 towards his arrearage in a new payment arrangement.  Mr. Harper does not want assistance.  He wants to earn money and make monthly payments totaling approximately $200 per month until his arrearage is paid.

PPL contends it attempted to provide Mr. Harper with a reasonable payment arrangement and to provide him with the benefit of LIHEAP assistance and OnTrack assistance.  However, Mr. Harper was unable or unwilling to take advantage of these assistance programs which would have helped him reduce his bills.  N.T. 190.

PPL contends that in order to be entitled to a further payment arrangement, Mr. Harper should be required to provide proof of income and he has failed to do that.  Additionally, he breached the BCS Commission-ordered payment agreement which was directed based upon the assumption that the customer was at a Level 3.  Mr. Harper has only made two payments since October, 2013.  He provided vague information about his annual salary but offered no evidence to support his income claim.

Disposition

Generally a public utility is entitled to receive payment for the service it provides.  Scaccia v. West Penn Power Co., 55 Pa. PUC 637 (1982).  Kea v. Peoples Natural Gas Co., 60 Pa. PUC 215 (1985); Mill v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 447 A.2d 1100 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1982).  PPL has the right to bill and receive payment for the utility service actually supplied.  66 Pa.C.S. § 1303.  Neal v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. Z‑00971874, (Order entered January 4, 2002); Angie’s Bar v. Duquesne Light Co., 72 Pa. PUC 213 (1990).  All customers are obligated to pay for utility service. Otherwise, unpaid bills are included in the utility’s uncollectible expenses, which all of its remaining customers must pay.  Bolt v. Duquesne Light Co., Docket No. Z‑ 8712758 (Order entered April 8, 1988).

By definition, a payment arrangement is “[a]n agreement in which a customer or applicant who admits liability for billed service is permitted to amortize or pay the unpaid balance of the account in one or more payments.”  52 Pa.Code § 56.2.  

Complainant is an Income Level 1 customer whose financial situation (gross annual income) has changed substantially since the last payment arrangement was ordered in September, 2013.  Complainant has offered no support for his position other than his testimony that he is living alone and has received $6,000 in gross income for the year 2014 that his outstanding balance should be reduced.  Further, Complainant sought and was given one Commission-ordered payment arrangement consistent with Chapter 1405(d) to which he defaulted.

However, I find Mr. Harper’s testimony to be credible regarding the change in persons residing at the household, and that there has been a change in household income since September, 2013 to warrant a second payment arrangement consistent with Chapter 1405(d).  In fact, the gross household income has decreased significantly from over 250% to less than 100% of the federal poverty level.  A payment arrangement, which prevents service termination as long as Complainant complies with it, is a privilege, not a right.  Mandell v. Duquesne Light Co., Docket No. C-20030234, (Order entered March 17, 2004).

The Company and Complainant did not come to an agreement before the hearing in this case regarding a further payment arrangement; however, the Commission has the authority to issue a subsequent Commission-ordered payment arrangement even though Complainant defaulted on the previous one as there has been a significant decrease in household income (more than 20%) as required by Chapter 14, 66 Pa.C.S. § 1401, et seq.

Complainant has had a poor payment history over the past 4 years.  PPL Exhibit 1.  However, since the issuance of the BCS Commission-ordered payment arrangement on September 20, 2014, I find the testimony of Mr. Harper to be credible that when the 3 other adults moved out of the service property[footnoteRef:4], they took with them the majority of the household income upon which the BCS Commission-ordered payment arrangement was based and the household annual gross income dropped from $75,000 for 5 persons, to $7,200 for one person, which is a change in income of over 20% as required by 66 Pa.C.S.§§ 1403 and 1405(d) for a subsequent Commission-ordered payment arrangement.  Complainant’s request for a second payment arrangement is granted because he has met the change in income criterion required for issuance of another payment arrangement.  66 Pa.C.S. § 1405(d). [4:  	Mr. Harper’s adult roommate, Ken, moved out in February, 2014 and Mr. Harper’s brother-in-law, sister, and their minor child moved out April 13, 2014, respectively.] 


Although Mr. Harper did not offer written documentation to support his claim that the household income was reduced substantially, there did not appear to be a dispute at the hearing that Mr. Harper was living alone at the service property from April 13, 2014, through October 28, 2014, and his consumption of electricity dropped accordingly as evidenced by a reduction in his budget billing to $10 per month.  Thus, I find that whereas Mr. Harper was a level 3 customer in September, 2013, he is now a level 1 customer within the meaning of 66 Pa.C.S.§§ 1405(b)(1) – (3).  

Section 1403 defines “change in income” as follows:  “A decrease in household income of 20% or more if the customer’s household income level exceeds 200% of the federal poverty level or a decrease in household income of 10% or more if the customer’s household income level is 200% or less of the federal poverty level.”  66 Pa.C.S.§ 1403.  Accordingly, under Section 1405(d), I find a significant reduction in income of over 20% warrants the establishment of a second Commission-ordered payment arrangement for Mr. Harper even though he did default on the September, 2013 payment arrangement.  

Thus, in accordance with Section 1405(a) and (b)(1), as a level 1 customer, the terms of the payment arrangement shall be such that Mr. Harper will be directed to pay his monthly budget billing amount plus 1/60th of the amount of his arrearage.  Mr. Harper will have five years to pay off his arrearage of over $9,000 instead of just one year.  Service termination shall be suspended as long as Mr. Harper makes timely, consistent monthly payments.  Complainant is cautioned that his payment history is poor and failure to comply with this second payment arrangement will be grounds under 66 Pa.C.S.§ 1405(f) for PPL to terminate Mr. Harper’s service. 




CONCLUSION

For all of these aforementioned reasons, Complainant’s request for a second Commission-ordered payment arrangement with more favorable terms is granted.  Beginning with the first bill following the Commission’s Final Order in this case, the Complainant is required to pay his budget bill plus an amount equal to one sixtieth (1/60th) of the balance accrued on his account.  If Mr. Harper fails to keep this payment schedule, PPL Electric Utilities Corporation is authorized to suspend or terminate his service in accordance with the Chapter 14 of the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s regulations.  Complainant’s request for civil penalties against PPL for erroneous terminations of electric service on September 15, 2013 and April 21, 2014, respectively is denied.  Finally, Complainant’s request for civil penalties for violations of the Public Utility Code, Commission regulations, and the Americans With Disabilities Act is denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

		1.	The Commission does not have jurisdiction to enforce the Americans With Disabilities Act or to even determine whether Mr. Harper has a disability or impairment which substantially limits his major life activities as defined by the Act at 42 U.S. Code § 12102, et. seq.  
2.	The Commission has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this proceeding regarding the provision of electric service by an electric distribution company to a residential customer.  66 Pa.C.S. §§102, 701, 1405, 1501.

		2.	As the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, Complainant bears the burden of proof.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).

3.	To satisfy his burden of proof, Complainant must demonstrate that Respondent violated the Public Utility Code or a regulation or Order of the Commission.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.  This must be shown by a preponderance of the evidence.  Patterson v. Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990).

		4.	Preponderance of the evidence means that the party with the burden of proof has presented evidence that is more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the other party.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600, 602, alloc. denied, 602 A.2d 863 (1992).

		5.	The Responsible Utility Customer Protection Act, 66 Pa.C.S. §§ 1401, et seq., applies to this proceeding.

6.	The Public Utility Code permits the Commission to grant a subsequent  payment agreement if there is a change in income, and dictates its terms.  66 Pa.C.S. §1405.
7.	Mr. Harper was a level 3 customer in September, 2013, but he is now a level 1 customer within the meaning of 66 Pa.C.S.§§ 1405(b)(1) – (3).  

8.	There has been a significant decrease in household gross income at the service property since April, 2014, and this reduction in income of over 20% warrants the establishment of a second Commission-ordered payment arrangement for Mr. Harper even though he did default on the September, 2013 payment arrangement.  

		9.	Complainant has failed to establish that the utility violated the Public Utility Code or a regulation or Order of the Commission in requiring payment from Complainant for the services that it rendered.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.

		10.	A public utility is entitled to full payment for service provided to customers and all customers are obligated to pay for utility service provided to them.  Kea v. Peoples Natural Gas Co., 60 Pa. PUC 215 (1985); Scaccia v. West Penn Power Co., 55 Pa. PUC 637 (1982).

		11.	Assertions, personal opinions or perceptions do not constitute evidence.  Pennsylvania Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, 532 A.2d 12 (Pa. 1987).

		12.	PPL did not erroneously terminate electric service to the service property at 1 Harper Lane, Stevens, Pennsylvania on or about September 16, 2013 or April 21, 2014 respectively.

		13.	PPL did timely reconnect electric service at the service property on September 16, 2013 and April 23, 2014.

ORDER

		THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the Complaint of Ronald P. Harper, Jr. against PPL Electric Utilities Corporation at Docket No. F-2014-2422449 is sustained in part and dismissed in part.

		2.	That Ronald P. Harper, Jr. shall make monthly payments consisting of his budget bill plus one sixtieth (1/60th) of the balance accrued on his account, beginning with the first billing due date following the entry of a final Commission Order in this case until his arrearage is paid in full.

		3.	That as long as Ronald P. Harper, Jr. keeps the payment schedule stated in this Order, PPL Electric Utilities Corporation shall not suspend or terminate his utility service except for valid safety or emergency reasons or assess late payments or finance charges against his account.

		4.	That, if Ronald P. Harper, Jr. does not keep the payment schedule stated in this Order, PPL Electric Utilities Corporation is authorized to suspend or terminate his utility service at 1 Harper Lane, Stevens, Pennsylvania in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s regulations.

		5.	That Ronald P. Harper, Jr.’s request for civil penalties is denied.
	
		6.	That the case at Docket No. F-2014-2422449 be marked closed.


Date:	January 27, 2015					/s/					
							Elizabeth H. Barnes
							Administrative Law Judge
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